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Re: Port of Centralia ethics investigation 

Dear Ms. Liaw: 

At the request of the Port of Centralia, I investigated allegations that Commissioner 

Peter Lahmann may have violated the Washington State Code of Ethics for Municipal Officers 
(Chap. 42.23 RCW) and/or the Port's Code of Ethics (Resolution 2005-05). The Port 
Commission authorized this investigation upon receipt of a January 19, 2023, 
memorandum from Amy Graber, the Port's Director of Finance and Administration. 

The potential ethics violations are connected to Lahmann's employment and 
advocacy work related to apprenticeship programs. Graber's memo expresses concern that 
Lahmann may engage in "quid pro quo" arrangements with Port tenants, in which he 
agrees to advocate for tenants' interests in exchange for them utilizing apprenticeships. 
The memo further alleges that in public settings, such as meetings with other 
organizations, Lahmann identifies himself as the Port's representative without Commission 
authorization to do so. 

I interviewed the following people on the dates indicated: 

• Amy Graber on March 23, 2023

• Executive Director Kyle Heaton on March 29, 2023

• Commissioner Peter Lahmann, with representative Shane O'Rourke, on May

5,2023

• Commissioner Julie Shaffley on May 8, 2023

• Commission President Kyle Markstrom on May 10, 2023

This report constitutes a summary of the evidence, the witness interviews, and the 
conclusions I draw therefrom. It is not intended as a full recitation of the facts gathered. I base 
my conclusions on a preponderance of the evidence standard, under which I accept an 
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allegation as fact when it is more probably true than not true based on the available evidence. 
An appendix of documents relevant to the investigation is attached to this report. 

SUMMARY OF COMPLAINT AND EVIDENCE 

Background 

Peter Lahmann was elected in 2017 as one of three Commissioners for the Port of 
Centralia. His current committee assignments include serving as representative to Southwest 
Washington Economic Development District and Southwest Washington Regional 
Transportation Planning Organization, He also serves as alternate trustee to the Washington 
Public Ports Association ("WPPA"). 

Lahmann is employed as an Apprenticeship Program Specialist for the Washington 
Department of Veterans' Affairs ("WDVA"). He has held this position since 2021. His job 
duties include connecting military personnel, veterans, military spouses, and military families 
to apprenticeship opportunities, WDVA pays Lahmann a fixed salary, and he receives no 
bonuses or additional compensation for connecting servicemembers to apprenticeships. As a 
state-funded agency, WDVA receives no bonuses or additional compensation for reaching 
apprenticeship goals. In the past, Lahmann had a private consulting business related to 
apprenticeships, but he closed that business in 2018. 

State law authorizes port commissions to establish economic development programs.1

According to its mission statement, the Port promotes economic development "through our 
master-planned industrial parks and mixed-use developments that provide jobs and tax 
revenues to the local economy." The Port operates three industrial parks, which host dozens 
of tenants and contribute hundreds of jobs. Some of the tenants are large in scale and employ 
organized workforces. 

As a component of economic development, port commissions may vote to establish 
workforce development programs, which may include job training and placement as well as 
"pre-apprenticeship training." The Port of Centralia Commission has not voted to adopt a 
workforce development program, 

Unlike other types of governmental entities, port districts are not required to ensure 
that contractors utilize apprentices on public works projects. 2 Local government entities, 

1 RCW 53.08.245. 
2 RCW 39.04.320 requires the state, school districts, and institutes of higher education to ensure that 
contractors utilize apprentices to perform a minimum percentage of labor on public works contracts over 
specified amounts. 
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including ports, may choose to adopt such standards, and some have. 3 The Port of Centralia 
Commission has not voted to adopt apprenticeship utilization standards for its contracts. 

Summary of concerns from Graber memo 

Amy Graber's memo outlines three areas of concern. First, Lahmann has pushed for 

apprenticeship utilization standards in its contracts, even though the Port is not legally 
required to do so. Second, Lahmann may be "abusing his position as an elected Port 

Commissioner to coerce Port tenants into meeting with him about this apprenticeship 
program in connection with representing their issues to the Port Commission." Third, in 
meetings, on boards, and in other professional settings, Lahmann presents himself as a Port 
representative without Commission authorization to do so. 

Encouraging the Poi·t Commission to adopt apprenticeship standards 

At four Port Commission meetings in the last two years, Lahmann advocated for the 
Commission to adopt apprenticeship language for its public works contracts. Lahmann has 

never proposed this as formal agenda item or made a motion at a Commission meeting. 
Rather, he brings the issue up in discussion, without calling for an official vote. 4 

Lahmann told me he would not necessarily push for a contractual requirement to 
utilize apprentices; rather, he would like to add language indicating that it is desired. 
Lahmann believes that when the state law was enacted, the state legislature wrongfully 
omitted local agencies such as port districts. He believes local agencies should fill the gap 
with their own standards. 

Lahmann brought this issue up for the first time in the February 17, 2021, Commission 
meeting. At the same meeting, he invited his fellow Commissioners to attend a presentation 

on apprenticeships, which he had helped arrange for a Lewis County Commission meeting. 

At the July 7, 2021, and August 26, 2022, Port Commission meetings, Lahmann again 
encouraged the Commission to adopt apprenticeship standards along with language 

encouraging contractors to employ graduates of Centralia High School and Centralia College. 

At the January 4, 2023, meeting, Lahmann asked if the contractor on a Port project, 

which was partially funded by WSDOT, was required to utilize apprenticeships. Graber 

3 
See Municipal Research and Services Center commentary on apprenticeship requirements for public works

contracts. 
4 Lahmann alleged that he is not allowed to put items on the agenda but his colleagues are. 
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Port Ethics Code 

Political activity is free speech protected under the First Amendment of the U.S. 
Constitution and the Washington State Constitution. This includes the freedom to advocate 
for policies, represent constituent interests, and associate with individuals and groups. The 
Port Ethics Code must be applied in light of these protections. 

The Code should be interpreted to prohibit unauthorized public appearances that cause 
articulable harm to the Port. Harm could result from Commissioners misrepresenting their 
own opinions as official Port policy. Harm could result from Commissioners making 
unauthorized promises that could cause the Port to incur litigation risk or financial liability. 
Harm could result if a quorum attends the same public meeting in violation of the OPMA. 
Finally, harm could result by a Commissioner going "off script" about a high risk matter like 
litigation. 

Considering the above parameters, there is insufficient evidence that Commissioner 
Lahmann violated the Port Ethics Code. I do not have evidence that he dishonestly 
represented his own opinions as the Port's official position; made unauthorized promises; 
obligated the Port to a course of action that was counter to official policy; caused an OPMA 
violation; or made statements that were detrimental to the Port's litigation position. 

With that said, Commissioner Lahmann's conduct can still create problems even if it 
does not violate the Ethics Code. When he represents himself, or allows others to represent 
him, as a Port Commissioner at public appearances, this blurs lines, creates distrust and 
discord among the staff and other Commissioners, and calls into question Lahmann's 
commitment to the collaborative process. This is especially true because Lahmann does not 
always disclose his appearances, and he often disagrees with his colleagues on policy matters. 

Closing assessment 

Through a re-drafted ethics code, the Commission could implement clear and 
defensible limits on Commissioner conduct, which could help prevent some of the issues seen 
in this case. These parameters may include the following: 

• A requirement to ensure that the Port does not incur liability under the OPMA
by giving the Commission and/or administration advance notice of public
appearances and not attending events when doing so could create a quorum.

• A requirement to state when they are giving their own opinion and not speaking
on behalf of the Port.
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• A prohibition on making promises that are not supported by official Port policy.

• Prescribed talking points for high-risk matters, such as ongoing litigation.

• A requirement to conduct oneself with reasonable decorum and refrain from

attacking staff.

• Formal committee and liaison assignments, as long as Commissioners remain

reasonably free to participate in additional activities of their choosing.

The Commission could also adopt a process for determining whether a member has 
violated the Code as well as remedies, such as censure or removal from special assignments. 

For now, the Commissioners should find ways to treat each other with fairness and function 

as a collaborative and effective body. Voluntary cooperation with the above-listed guidelines 

could be a good place to start. 

If you have any questions or need additional information, please let me know. 

Sincerely, 

HAGGARD & GANSON LLP 

�� 
Kathleen Haggard 




